GILBERT EWING

APPELLANT

٧.

FILED

NO. 2008-CP-00123-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Office of the Clerk Supreme Court Court of Appeals

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. I; WHETHER COUNT 4 OF THE INDICTMENT FAILURE TO CHARGE ARMED ROBBERY AND DESCRIBE THE PROPERTY CAUSED THE CIRCUIT COURT TO LACK SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OF ARMED ROBBERY?

ISSUE NO. II: WHETHER APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL PROTECT-ION AGAINST DOUBLE JEOPARDY WAS VIOLATED?

ISSUE NO. III; WHETHER APPELLANT'S GUILTY PLEA TO ARMED ROBBERY IS VALID?
SEE ISSUE IV AND V INFRA.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi, and a judgement of conviction for the crime of Armed Robbery against. Gilbert Ewing and the resulting 30 year, 10 years suspended, 5 years supervised probation, 20 years sentence to serve following. Nolle. Proseqi, on burglary with intent to commit armed robbery, a jury's verdict on armed robbery and then a plea bargan conviction to another same armed robbery on August 14, 2006, all of which contains the larceny amount, Honorable Bobby B. Delaughter, Circuit Judge. presiding, Gilbert Ewing is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

#### **FACTS**

On December 13, 2005, Ewing was Indicted in a five (5) count Indictment, by the First Judicial District of Hinds County. [R. 146 - 145]. Pertinent here are, Count 2: House burglary ..with the intent to commit armed robbery and Count 4; Armed Robbery.

During the trial on the above counts, on June 19, 2006 through June 21, 2006, the jury deliberated on the facts and law presented and rendered its verdict of GUILTY as to Count 4,

Attempted Armed Robbery, of the Indictment. [ R. 14 ].

During said jury deliberations, the trial jury submitted certain questions to the Court for clarification of issues lf law relating to Counts 1,2,3,4, and 5 of the indictment, which counts continued to be under jury consideration as to the guilt or innocence of the appellant. [ R. 14 ].

The jury questions submitted caused the State of Mississippi to believe that it is in the best interests of the State of Mississippi to cease further jury deliberations on the guilt or innocence of the Appellant as to Counts 1,2,3, and 5 of the Indictment. [ R. 14 ].

The trial court then Ordered a Nolle Prosequi . . . . . be entered as to Counts 1,2,3 and 5 of the indictment. [ R. 15 ].

Subsequent to a jury verdict of "guilty", but before imposition of sentence thereon, which is conclusive without sentencing a [conviction], the trial court accepted Ewing's guilty plea [R. 157], which is also conclusive and itself a [conviction].

On March 2, 2007, Ewing filed his (PCR) motion in the trial court although inartfully drafted alleging substantially that the robbery indictment Count 4: was fatally defective for failure to describe the personal property (the larceny amount element) [ R. 129 - 144 ].

On May 22, 2007, the trial court dismissed the (PCR) motion with prejudice. On June 4, 2007, Ewing filed Motion for rehearing.

[ R. 162 - 166], which was denied. [ R. 118 ]. This appeal fo-

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Because appellant's indictment failed to charge the essential elements of armed robbery, the circuit court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the offense. Appellant's constitutional protection against double jeopardy was violated by . . .the jury's verdict of quilty of armed robbery following the 🖖 Nolle Prosequi of the burglary with intent to commit armed robbery both of which included the ... same larceny thats required to constitues robbery and again (same) following the siguilty plea conviction where no felony offense was pending nor whether it was for imposition of sentence thereon. Because the record reflects Ewing, his attorney, the prosecutor, and the trial court all thought that Ewing's indictment charged him with armed robbery. The record evidences that the explanation given to Ewing about the nature of the charge, the possible sentences and other consequences of the plea barganing process all pertained to Armed Robbery, not Attempted Armed Robbery. For this reason Ewing's quilty plea was not voluntary in a constitutional sense, thus he was denied due process requirements.

#### ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. I: WHETHER COUNT 4 OF THE INDICTMENT FAILURE TO CHARGE ARMED ROBBERY AND DESCRIBE THE PROPERTY CAUSED THE CIRCUIT COURT TO LACK SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OF ARMED ROBBERY.

Appellant argues that due to defects in the charging document, (indictment) the circuit court was without without jurisdiction over the robbery offense. Appellant argues and first

shows that the indictment in this case Count 4; Charged attempted armed robbery and not armed robbery. Since the indictment failed to allege take or attempt to take. The indictment language only recited " Attempt" to take. The Indictment's ading stated Attemped Armed Robbery. [ R. 5 ]. This court recently discussed the "Attempt" language in Armed Robbery cases and determined to the effect that if the attempted crime as well as the completed crime was charged in the indictment then the attempt language may be viewed as surplusage. If only the "Attempt" language is cited in a robbery indictment then that indictment can only be charging an attempted crime and not a completed one. Neal v. State, 936 So. 2d 463 (Miss. App. 2006); Spears v. State, 942 So. 812 (Miss. App. 2005)

Ewing, secondly argues the indictment <u>Count 4</u>: [R. 5] is fatally defective for failure to describe the personal property allegedly <u>attempted</u> to be taken and fail to charge Ewing with the larceny of any amount of money. <u>State v. Snowden</u>, etal., 164 Miss. 613; 145 So. 622; 1933 Miss. LEXIS 253.

Although State v. Snowden, supra, was an appeal challenge by the State, a decision of the Circuit Court of Lauderdale County Mississippi, which sustained defendant's demurrer to an indictment charging them with robbery. Specifically defendants ---had alleged their indictment failed to charge defendants with the larceny of any amount of money. The court concluded that the indictment met this requirement. The indictment charged the larceny of "about six dollars lawful and legal money and tender of

the United States of America of the value unknown to the grand jurors, etc. The court held that this allegation as to the amount was sufficient. However the court went on to state:

"The basic principle of English and American jurisprudence is that no man shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law; and notice of the charge or claim against him, not only sufficient to inform him that there is a charge or claim, but so distinct and specific as clearly to advise him what he has to meet, and to give him a fair and reasonable opportunity to prepare his defense, is an indispensable element of that process.

# Fontana v. United States, 262 F. 283; State v. Taylor, 56 So. 524.

The proper way to describe property charged to be stolen in a robbery and to identify the same is shown by a reference to [\*\*\*3] Bishop on Directions and Forms (1 Ed.), 513 and 514 and see 1 Wharton on Precedents of Indictments, and Pleas. p. 410.

## The Snowden, court went on to say:

This court is definitely committed to the proposition that the gist of robbery is the felonious taking in larceny, and that there can be no robbery without the indictment charging larceny with the degree of certainty required in a larceny indictment.

## Jones v. State, 95 Miss. 121, 48 So. 407

an omiission in an indictment for a felony going to the very essence of the offense renders it void and subject to attack at any time.

In the case of Rains v. State, 36 Me. 532, it was held "A charge of larceny is always included in a charge of robbery. The indictment therefore, should contain all the allegations essential in larceny, with the added matter that makes the larceny robbery.

3 Bisho's New Criminal Procedure, p. 1865.

The indictment should describe the property taken by robbery subsequently the same as in larceny. An information describing the money as "twenty-five dollars in money, the [\*\*\*4] property of John Bond;" without any excuse for not giving a better description, is fatally defective. An indictment describing the property taken as (certain money and one silver watch chain is sufficient.

In quite a number of cases this court is committed to the proposition that unless the property, as well as the owner of same, is clearly described in the indictment for embezzlement, false pretense, larceny and burglary that the indictment is fatally defective, and of course the same would hold true in an indictment for robbery.

## State v. Snowden, supra.

Ewing argues both that the indictment was defective for failure to even charge the completed crime (armed robbery) by alleging only an attempted robbery, and also defective as to any kind of robbery for failure of the indictment to specify the property allegedly attempted to be taken and failure to state any larceny amount which is required to constitute any kind of robbery. For these reasons the circuit court was without jurisdiction of the armed robbery or any kind of robbery in this case.

[HN1] An accused has a constitutional right "to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation U.S. Const. Amend. VI. This State's Constitution does not expand the right. Miss. Const. art. III, 26. Entering a guilty plea does not waive an Indictment's failure to include an element of a crime, nor does the plea waive subject matter jurisdiction. Conerly v. State, 607 So. 2d 1153, 1156 (Miss. 1992). An indictment charging the essential elements of a crime must be served on a defendant in order for a court to obtain subject matter jurisdiction over the particular offense. Jefferson v. State, 556 So. 2d 1016, 1021 (Miss. 1989).

Neal v. State, 936 So. 2d 463 So. 2d 463 (Miss. App. 2006:

Ewing argues and submits the State should concede that Count

4 of the indictment was not sufficient for the court to have jurisdiction over the offense of armed robbery nor was it sufficient to convey jurisdiction for any kind of robbery.

Because the indictment failed to charge the completed crime Armed Robbery and failed to charge any larceny amount the law dictates that the case be rendered in favor of appellant with instructions to dismiss the indictment. SEE, Holly v. State, 671 So. 2d 32, holding that larceny element is included in the crime of robbery.

#### ISSUE NO. II. WHETHER APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL PROTECT-ION AGAINST DOUBLE JEOPARDY WAS VIOLATED?

Ewing states that he was subjected to double jeopardy by having to respond to <u>Armed Robbery</u> on three ocassions. <u>One</u> in the burglary with intent to commit armed robbery Count 2. [R. 4] which was Nolle Prosequi by the trial court on the State's motion. [R. 14 - 15].

Second in the jury trial where the jury was instructed to find guilt of Armed Robbery. [R. 29], or not guilty as to Count 4. which resulted in the jury's verdict of guilty of attempted armed robbery constituting an implied acquittal of the Armed Robbery. [R. 70].

Thirdly in the guilty plea conviction of armed robbery. [ R. 72 ].

Although this argument was not raised in the proceedings below still this court should address the merits since a substantial right is at issue. See Miss. R. App. P 28(a)(3), <u>Fuselier v. State</u>, 654 So. 2d 519, 522 (Miss. 1995); <u>Wheeler v. State</u>, 826, So. 2d 731 (Miss. 2002).

[HN9]Article 3, Section 22 of the Mississippi Constitution guarantees that no persn "shall be twice placed in jeopardy for the same offense..."In a jury trial, Jeopardy attaches once the jury has been empaneled and sworn. Simmons v. State, 746 So. 2d 302 309 (Miss. 1999)citing Serfass v. United States, 420 U.S. 377 388, 95 S. Ct. 1055, 1063 (1975).

Ewing argues that even though there was only one jury empanled its verdict constitutes an implied acquittal of Armed Robbery while during the same deliberation the trial court Nolle Prosequi Count 2 burglary with intent to commit same armed robbery and subsequent to a jury verdict "of "guilty" to attempted

Armed Robbery, but before imposition of sentence thereon, The court accepted Appellant's guilty plea to Armed Robbery.

To support this proposition Ewing cites - - - Reed v. State In reed, the defendant was indicted 506 So. 2d 277 (Miss. 1987) for armed robbery against three victims. Id at 278. During trial the State failed to produce evidence as to the robbery of one of the individuals in the indictment. Id. Reed moved for a directed verdict and the motion was overruled, but the trial court allowed the State to reopen [\*\*36] its case and delete this individual from the indictment and the jury instructions. Id. at 279 The Mississippi Supreme Court held that even though the judge did not specifically say that he was directing a verdict as to this action, it was tantamount to an acquittal on that charge. Id. at 280.

"The trial judge's characterization of his own action cannot control the classification of this action." Id. (quoting <u>United States v. Scott</u>, 437 U.S. 82, 96 L. Ed 2d 65, 98 [\*570] S. Ct. 2187 (1978). "An acquittal on a charge occurs when 'the ruling of the judge, whatever its label, actually represent a resolution, correct or not, of some or all the factual elements of the offense charged."

In the case subjudice, as in Reed, the trial judge determined that the State failed to produce evidence sufficient to allow the question of burglary with intent to commit armed robbery to go to the jury. "That determination represents a resolution of

one of the factual elements of the offense charged," specifically the armed robbery of Chiquita Scott. Id. Under <u>Scott</u> and <u>Reed</u> the decision of the trial judge Nolle Prosequi of Count 2, burglary with intent to commit armed robbery amounted to an implied or constructive directed verdict as to that crime.

Ewing cites in support of his <u>second</u> argument that the jury trial on the Attempted Armed Robbery / armed robbery indictment, that the jury was instructed that it could return a verdict of armed robbery had the opportunity to return a verdict for armed robbery, and its verdict of guilty of "attempted armed robbery was an implied acquittal of any armed robbery charge in the indictment.

Davis v. Herring, 800 F. 2d 513 (5th Cir. 1986), for double jeop-3 ardy purpose. (Cf. Lowery v. Estelle, 696 F. 2d 333(5th Cir 1983)

Thirdly subsequent to the Nolle Prosequi acquittal and jury verdict acquittal on the robbery indictment, but before imposition of sentence thereon, the trial court accepted appellant's quilty plea to same armed robbery and while no other felony count was pending. These advents he argues violated his Constitutional protection against double jeopardy. Morris v. Reynolds, 264 F.3d. 38 (2nd Cir. 2001). See, Holly v. State, supra.

The Supreme Court has clearly established, [HN7] that when no greater offense remain "pending" ---at the time a court accepts a defendant's guilty plea to a lesser included offense, and the prosecution has not objected to the defendant's plea, the <u>Double clause</u> bars reinstatement of the greater offense.

[HN8]The <u>Double Jeopardy Clause</u> provides that no person shall "be subjected for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb."<u>U.S. Const. amend V. cl. 2</u>. "it protects against a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal. It protects against a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction. And it protects against multiple punishments for the

offense." Ohio v. Johnson, 467 U.S. 493, 49881 L. Ed 2d 425 104 S. Ct. 2536 (1984) [\*\*26] (citing Brown v. Ohio 97 S. Ct. 2221 (1977) quoting North Carolina v. Pearce, 89 S. Ct. 2072 (1969) (emphase added). The provision "serves principally as a restraint on courts and prosecutors." Brown, 432 U.S. at 165. "/Where successive prosecutions are at stake, the guarantee serves 'a constitutional policy of finality for the defendant's benefit "Id. (quoting - United States v. Jones, 91 S. Ct. 547 (1971) (plurality opinion)

The Supreme Court has long held that a guilty plea constitutes a conviction. See - - - Kercheval v. United States 47 S. Ct. 582 (1927). In Kercheval, the government [\*49] charged defendant with using the mail to defraud. See id. at 221. Defendant plead guilty and the court sentenced him to a term of imprisonment of three years. See id. Upon defendant's motion the court owed the defendant to withdraw his guilty plea. at 221-22. At the trial the court permitted the prosecution, over [\*27] defendant's objection, to put in evidence a certified copy of the guilty plea. See id. at On appeal the government argued that a guilty plea is similar to a confession, and therefore should be likewise admitted. See id at 223. The Supreme Court held that a guilty plea differs in purpose and effect from a confession; "it is itself a conviction. Like a verdict of a jury it is conclusive. More is not required; court has nothing to do but give judgement and sentence. Id. at 223. Given that a guilty plea is a conviction, see id., and that the Double Jeopardy Clause "protects against a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction," Johnson, 467 U.S. at 498 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted), the Clause prohibits second prosecution for the same offense following a quilty plea.

It has long been clearly established by the Supreme Court that [HN9] it is a violation of double jeopardy to prosecute a defendant for a greater offense after convicting and punishing the defendant for a lesser included offense. See Brown, 432 U.S. at 168. In Brown, the defendant pleaded [\*\*28] guilty to joyriding, the crime of operating a vehicle without the owner's consent. 432 U.S. at 162. After he completed his 30 day jail sentence, he was indicted for theft of the same car (however on a different day), a greater offense which under Ohio law includes the misdemenor of joyriding. Id. at 162-63 Applying the Blockburger test the Court determined that "for purposes of barring successive prosecutions" a greater offense is the same offense as a leser included

offense. See Id. at 166 (citing Block burger v. United States, 52 S. Ct. 180 (1932), In Brown, of course trial court not only convicted the defendant of the lesser included offense, it also punished him for that offense prior to prosecution for the greater offense. Court was clear in Brown, and subsequently in however, that the double jeopardy bar prohibits not only multiple punishments for the same offense, but also second prosecution following conviction, regardless ο£ whether sentencing has taken place. "Previously we have recognized that the Double Jeopardy Clause prohibits prosecution [\*\*29] of a defendant for a greater offense when he has already been tried and acquitted or victed on the lesser included offense. "Johnson, 467 U.S. at 501 (citing Brown, 432 U.S. 161). We therefore conclude that the Supreme Court has established that, after a court accepts defendant's quilty plea to a lesser included offense, prosecution for the greater offense villates the Double Jeopardy Clause. Thus, a trial may not sua sponte reinstate a dismissed felony ing acceptance of a guilty plea to a lesser offense. Nor may it sua sponte vacate the defendant's plea in order to reinstate the greater offense.

Appellant Ewing like Morris resolved the only charge pending against him at the time his [\*\*31] plea was accepted. He did not attempt to use double jeopardy "as a sword to prevent the State from completing its prosecution on the remaining charges." <u>Johnson, 467</u> <u>U.S. at 502</u>. (emphasis added). There were no remaining charges.

Consequently, similar to the defendant in Morris and Brown, the subsequent prosecution infringed **Ewing's** interest in repose which the Double Jeopardy Clause protects.

Further, although appellant agree that a court has the power to correct its own errors, when the correction of those errors infringes a defendants rights under the <u>Double Jeopardy Clause</u> to finality and repose, the power to correct mistakes must cede ground. The Morris court went on to show that the court in Johnson erred in accepting defendant's guilty plea to the lesser included charges while the greater charges remained pending, and the prosecution objected to the

entry of the plea. However, because the defendant had no interest in finality, since he offered to resolve only part of the charges against him, the <u>Double Jeopardy Clause</u> did not restrain the correction of that error.

In the instant case here **Ewing** as in **Morris and Brown**, appellant had an interest in finality because he had resolved all the charges pending against him. Under the circumstances the <u>Double Jeopardy</u>

<u>Clause</u> acts to restrain the trial court from correcting any error.

Thus, this Court must conclude that under Morris, Kercheval,
Brown, and Johnson, which constitute "clearly established Federal
law," the guilty plea prosecution in this case violated appellant's
rights under the <u>Double Jeopardy Clause</u>, and is contrary to or an
unreasonable application of this clearly established federal law.

Appellant request the conviction be reversed and rendered in his favor.

13.

was never considered by a jury, double jeopardy had never attached.

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