IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

GILBERT EWING APPELLANT

VS. NO. 2008-CP-0123-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

First, Ewing, as part of a plea bargain, signed a voluntary and intelligent waiver of his right to both a direct appeal as well as any appeal in a post-conviction environment. (C.P. at 75-78) This waiver has got to stand for something lest we fall for anything.

Second, Ewing's appellate claims targeting, inter alia, double jeopardy, a defective

#12, absence of order constructively amending indictment, and involuntary plea were not distinctly raised and presented to the trial judge in Ewing's motion to vacate conviction and sentence. (C.P. at 131-43) Rather, they appear to be raised and discussed for the first time in Ewing's appellate brief. (Brief of Appellant at 1-17, especially 8-13, 4-15, 16-17) Ewing, therefore, is procedurally barred from raising these issues in the present appeal. **Foster v. State,** supra, 716 So.2d 538, 540

(25 ms 164)

(Miss. 1998), citing **Berdin v. State**, *supra*, 648 So.2d 73, 80 (Miss. 1994) ["Because Foster did not raise this issue in his petition for post-conviction relief, its consideration is precluded on appeal."]

Third, to the extent Ewing raises issues precipitated by his trial by jury, Ewing's subsequent plea of guilty rendered those issues meaningless and moot.

In addition, Ewing's plea of guilty waived any non-jurisdictional defects in his indictment when he entered a voluntary guilty plea.

Also waived by his voluntary plea of guilty was Ewing's right to have the prosecution prove each element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt, including his right to present any defense(s) he might have had to the charges. **Bishop v. State,** 812 So.2d 934, 945 (Miss. 2002); **Anderson v. State,** 577 So.2d 390, 391 (Miss. 1991); **Jefferson v. State,** 556 So.2d 1016, 1019 (Miss. 1989); **Taylor v. State,** 766 So.2d 830, 835 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000).

Fourth, the circuit judge did not err in denying post-conviction relief because Ewing's claims targeting his conviction following trial by jury and the sentence imposed in the wake of his guilty plea were manifestly without merit. Miss. Code Ann. §99-39-11; Garlotte v. State, 530 So.2d 693 (Miss. 1988).

Ewing has failed to establish by a preponderance of the evidence he was entitled to any relief resulting from his conviction via an allegedly involuntary plea.

Fifth and finally, the official record is imperfect because it contains none of the following: a transcript of the completed trial or the plea-qualification transcript itself. This imperfect record is inadequate to support and/or reinforce the defendant's post-conviction claims. It is, on the other hand, sufficient to justify, without the necessity of remand, affirmation of the denial of post-conviction relief.

ARGUMENT

EWING WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO A DIRECT APPEAL AS WELL AS ANY APPEAL TO THIS COURT IN A POST-CONVICTION ENVIRONMENT. ACCORDINGLY, HE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

EWING IS ALSO PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM RAISING ON APPEAL CLAIMS OF DOUBLE JEOPARDY, INVALID GUILTY PLEA, WAIVER OF APPEAL, ET CETERA, BECAUSE THESE CLAIMS WERE NEVER RAISED IN THE COURT BELOW.

Several observations are made initially.

First, the crime of armed robbery is defined in Miss.Code Ann. §97-3-79 which reads, in its entirety, as follows:

Every person who shall feloniously take *or attempt to take* from the person or from the presence the personal property of another and against his will by violence to his person or by putting such person in fear of immediate injury to his person by the exhibition of a deadly weapon shall be guilty of robbery and, upon conviction, shall be imprisoned for life in the state penitentiary if the penalty is so fixed by the jury; and in cases where the jury fails to fix the penalty at imprisonment for life in the state penitentiary the court shall fix the penalty at imprisonment in the state penitentiary for any term not less than three (3) years.

Whether one actually takes or merely attempts to take, the crime is armed robbery, a completed offense.

Ewing was convicted of armed robbery following a trial by jury. Prior to sentencing and final judgment, and apparently in the wake of a plea bargain whereby the other four counts in his indictment would be *nolle prossed*, presumably as a *quid pro quo*, Ewing entered a guilty plea to the same offense.

Second, the appellate record is incomplete. There is neither a transcript of the completed

trial nor a transcript of the plea-qualification hearing and the apparent plea bargain. Ewing is well aware that the latter is missing from the official record. (Brief of Appellant at 15)

With all that said, the three claims stated by Ewing in his "motion to vacate sentence and conviction" filed on March 2, 2007, are stated verbatim as follows:

"[T]he State fail[ed] to meet its burden of proof by proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the petitioner committed armed robbery . . ." (C.P. at 133)

"[T]he State's evidence was insufficient to support a conviction for armed robbery, . . . "(C.P. at 133)

"[Ewing's] sentence and conviction should be vacated because the State fail[ed] to meet its burden of proof, and that's proving beyond a reasonable doubt that [Ewing] committed attempted armed robbery." (C.P. at 133)

Ewing further pinpoints the issues in the headings preceding his arguments one and two. We quote:

"Issue # One. The Court failed to prove the petitioner committed armed robbery." (C.P. at 135)

Subsumed in that argument are multiple assertions Ewing's indictment was defective because it failed to more perfectly identify the personal property Ewing attempted to take from the victim. (C.P. at 136-39)

"Issue # Two. The State did not prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt." (C.P. at 140)

Ewing argues, *inter alia*, under issue two the trial judge should have directed a verdict in his favor because the State failed to prove every element of the offense charged. (C.P. at 141) This is a sufficiency of the evidence argument.

There can be no doubt that Ewing effectively waived his rights to any appeal and entered a guilty plea in exchange for the decision of the prosecutor's not to prosecute further the other four (4) counts. A defendant has no constitutional right to an appeal. Rather, appeals are a creature of

statutory origin. See Miss.Code Ann. §99-35-101. If one can effectively waive certain constitutional rights he can waive rights created by statute as well.

In any event, Ewing's post-conviction motion to vacate filed in the trial court on March 2, 2007, targets Ewing's trial by jury and not issues related to his post-conviction guilty plea. Stated differently, the conviction that Ewing sought to vacate in his post-conviction motion was the conviction resulting from his trial by jury. The jury trial issues, we respectfully submit, are moot because for reasons not fully developed in the record before us, Ewing, prior to sentencing and final judgment, elected to plea guilty.

Ewing's arguments made in his brief on appeal raise issues not distinctly raised and presented in the motion to vacate, *viz.*, double jeopardy, a defective indictment, waiver of appeal, misidentification of victim, amendment of indictment by instruction #12, absence of order constructively amending indictment, and an invalid guilty plea to armed robbery.

Insofar as we can tell, these issues were not adequately raised and presented to the trial judge in Mr. Ewing's motion for post-conviction relief. (C.P. at 131-143) Issues and claims raised for the first time in his *pro se* appellate brief, cannot be considered for the first time on appeal. Ewing is procedurally barred from raising them in the present context. **Foster v. State**, *supra*, 716 So.2d 538, 540 (Miss. 1998), citing **Berdin v. State**, *supra*, 648 So.2d 73, 80 (Miss. 1994) ["Because Foster did not raise this issue in his petition for post-conviction relief, its consideration is precluded on appeal."]; **Bell v. State**, No. 2007-CP-01857-COA (¶ 10, 11, 12, 13) [Not Yet Reported]; **Davis v. State**, *supra*, No. 2007-CP-00264-COA (¶4) decided June 17, 2008 [Not Yet Reported]; **Wallace v. State**, No. 2007-CP-00766-COA (¶27) decided May 27, 2008 [Not Yet Reported].

In **Berdin v. State**, *supra*, 648 So.2d 73, 80 (Miss. 1994), we find the following language controlling the posture of Ewing's complaint:

Both Berdin and the State raised issues under assignment number II that are procedurally barred. Berdin never raised this issue at the hearing as error for post-conviction relief. It is assigned as error for the first time in her brief. An assignment of error may not be raised for the first time on appeal. *Collins v. State*, 594 So.2d 29, 35 (Miss. 1992). Therefore, this issue is not properly before the court. [emphasis ours]

Same here. See also Cross v. State, 964 So.2d 535, 538 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007) [Issue of depression as a factor for involuntary guilty plea "procedurally barred" because presented for the first time on appeal]; Foster v. State, supra, 716 So.2d 538, 540 (Miss. 1998) citing Berdin v. State, supra. [Because voluntariness of guilty plea was not raised in petition for post-conviction relief, "... its consideration is precluded on appeal."]

The motion to vacate conviction and sentence was treated by the circuit judge as a motion for post-conviction relief and denied summarily on the ground that Ewing's guilty plea waived non-jurisdictional defects in the indictment and Ewing's guilty plea rendered moot the claim the State failed to meet its burden of proof at trial. (C.P. at 108; appellee's exhibit A, attached)

We concur.

Assuming the guilty plea itself was the target of Ewing's attack as being involuntary, Ewing, by pleading guilty, waived his right to challenge the indictment as well as the evidence.

The trial judge got it right when he observed "[a] valid guilty plea operates as a waiver of all non-jurisdictional defects contained in an indictment against a defendant." (C.P. at 108; appellee's exhibit A, attached.)

Judge DeLaughter also got it right when he found that "[p]etitioner's claim that the State failed to meet its burden of proof at trial is moot because Petitioner subsequently plead guilty to the charges against him, including that of which the jury found him guilty." (C.P. at 108; appellee's exhibit A, attached)

In Jefferson v. State, 556 So.2d 1016, 1019 (Miss. 1989), this Court opined:

We are concerned here with the legal effect of Jefferson's two 1981 guilty pleas. The institution of the guilty plea is well established in our criminal justice process. A guilty plea operates to waive the defendant's privilege against self-incrimination/2, the right to confront and cross-examine the prosecution's witnesses/3, the right to a jury trial/4 and the right that the prosecution prove each element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt./5

Outside the constitutional realm, the law is settled that with only two exceptions, the entry of a knowing and voluntary guilty plea waives all other defects or insufficiencies in the indictment. [citations omitted] A defendant's right to claim that he is not the person named in the indictment may be waived if not timely asserted. Anselmo v. State, 312 So.2d 712 (Miss. 1975). The principle exception to the general rule is that the failure of the indictment to charge a criminal offense or, more specifically, to charge an essential element of a criminal offense, is not waived. See Durr v. State, 446 So.2d 1016, 1017 (Miss. 1984); Maxie v. State, 330 So.2d 277, 278 (Miss. 1976). And, of course, a guilty plea does not waive subject matter jurisdiction. [Text of notes 2-5 omitted; emphasis supplied]]

We find in **Anderson v. State**, 577 So.2d 390, 391 (Miss. 1991), the following language also applicable to Ewing's complaint:

Moreover, we have recognized that a valid guilty plea operates as a waiver of all non-jurisdictional rights or defects which are incident to trial. Ellzey v. State, 196 So.2d 889, 892 (Miss. 1967). We have generally included in this class "those [rights] secured by the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States, as well as those comparable rights secured by Sections 14 and 26, Article 3, of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890." Sanders v. State, 440 So.2d 278, 283 (Miss. 1983); see also Jefferson v. State, 556 So.2d 1016, 1019 (Miss. 1989). We take this opportunity to specifically include in that class of waivable or forfeitable rights the right to a speedy trial, whether of constitutional or statutory origin.

This view is in accord with that of our sister states. [citations omitted]

This rule also prevails in the federal arena. [citations omitted; emphasis ours]

Stated differently, Gilbert Ewing's voluntary plea of guilty to armed robbery waived and forfeited all rights and non-jurisdictional defects incident to trial, including the right to assail non-jurisdictional defects found in an indictment or information. **Drennan v. State,** 695 So.2d 581 (Miss. 1997); **Luckett v. State,** 582 So.2d 428 (Miss. 1991); **Anderson v. State,** supra, 577 So.2d 390 (Miss. 1991).

Because Ewing entered a voluntary plea of guilty, he also waived any defenses he might have had to the charge.

Perhaps more importantly, claims of double jeopardy, defective indictment, waiver of appeal, invalid plea, et cetera do not appear as grounds for relief in Ewing's motion to vacate; rather, they have been raised for the first time in his brief on appeal. The trial judge had no opportunity to rule on these claims articulated by Ewing and presented here for the first time.

This is fatal to Ewing's post-conviction complaint.

It is elementary "[t]he burden is upon [Mr Ewing] to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that he is entitled to the requested post-conviction relief." **Bilbo v. State**, 881 So.2d 966, 968 (¶3) (Ct. App.Miss. 2004) citing Miss.Code Ann. §99-39-23(7) (Rev.2000).

We respectfully submit the trial judge was neither clearly erroneous nor manifestly wrong in finding that Gilbert Ewing failed to do so here.

Finally, a transcript of the jury trial is not a matter of record. More likely than not, the stenographic notes of the court reporter have not even been transcribed.

Ewing's "Petition to Enter Guilty Plea" is, likewise, not a matter of record although Ewing's petition to waive appeal is in the nature thereof.

Neither is Ewing's guilty plea transcript.

"The burden is on the defendant to make a proper record of the proceedings." **Genry v. State,** 735 So.2d 186, 200 (Miss. 1999). "[T]o the appellant falls the duty of insuring that the record contains sufficient evidence to support his assignments of error on appeal." **Burney v. State,** 515 So.2d 1154, 1160 (Miss. 1987). *See also* **Truitt v. State,** 958 So.2d 299 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007); **Jones v. State,** 962 So.2d 571 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006),reh denied.

Many of the facts asserted in Ewing's appellate brief concerning his alleged invalid conviction, whether a result of trial by jury or guilty plea, are not found or fully developed in the official record. This Court cannot consider those facts here. **Genry v. State**, 735 So.2d 186, 200 (Miss. 1999) ["This Court 'cannot decide an issue based on assertions in the briefs alone; rather, issues must be proven by the record.' "]; **Wortham v. State**, 219 So.2d 923, 926-27 (Miss. 1969) ["We will not go outside the record to find facts and will not consider a statement of facts attempted to be supplied by counsel in briefs."] *See also* **Schuck v. State**, 865 So.2d 1111 (Miss. 2003) [Consideration of matters on appeal is limited strictly to matters contained in the trial record.]

In Pulphus v. State, 782 So.2d 1220 (Miss. 2001), this Court stated the following:

There is no record of this guilty plea, and this defendant is not a co-defendant of Pulphus's. This court will not consider matters that do not appear in the record, and it must confine its review to what appears in the record. *Robinson v. State*, 662 So.2d 1100, 1104 (Miss. 1995) (citing *Dillon v. State*, 641 So.2d 1223, 1225 (Miss. 1994)). Issues cannot be decided based on assertions from the briefs alone. The issues must be supported and proved by the record. *Robinson*, 662 So.2d at 1104 (citing *Ross v. State*, 603 So.2d 857, 861 (Miss. 1992)). In *Robinson* this Court stated, "we have on many occasions held that we must decide each case by the facts shown in the record, not assertions in the brief, however sincere counsel may be in those assertions." *Robinson*, 662 So.2d at 1104 (quoting *Mason v. State*, 440 So.2d 318, 319 (Miss. 1983)).

See also Gross v. State, 948 So.2d 439 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006).

It is enough to say that Ewing's brief, while strong on law is excruciatingly weak on the application of the law to the facts.

CONCLUSION

Ewing's claims are barred because he waived his rights to any appeal.

Ewing's claims are also procedurally barred for other reasons as well.

But even if not, his arguments were manifestly without merit.

Miss.Code Ann. § 99-39-11 reads, in its pertinent parts, as follows:

* * * * * *

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